1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2
3
4
5 MICHAEL ALAN LEE,
6 Appellant,

7 vs.

8
9 THE STATE OF NEVADA,
10 Respondent.

) NO. 66963

Electronically Filed
Sep 08 2015 04:18 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

11
12 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

13
14 (Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

15 PHILIP J. KOHN
16 CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.
17 309 South Third Street, #226
18 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610
 (702) 455-4685

19 Attorney for Appellant

 STEVEN B. WOLFSON
 CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY.
 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155
 (702) 455-4711

 ADAM LAXALT
 Attorney General
 100 North Carson Street
 Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717
 (775) 684-1265

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23
- 24
- 25
- 26
- 27
- 28

MICHAEL ALAN LEE,) NO. 66963
)
Appellant,)
)
vs.)
)
THE STATE OF NEVADA,)
)
Respondent.)

11

12

- 14
15
16
17

19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 **specific reference to arguments in the Fast Track Statement.** This case is
2 not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because Mr. Lee went to
3 trial and was convicted of a Category A felony. Rule 17(b)(1) of the Nevada
4 Rules of Appellate Procedure excludes defendants who went to trial and were
5 convicted of a Category A felony from “presumptive assignment” to the
6 Court of Appeals.
7
8

9
10 **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

11 **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED THE**
12 **DEFENSE MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL.**

13
14 **II. THROUGHOUT THE PROCEEDING AGAINST HIM,**
15 **THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRODUCED**
16 **TO SUSTAIN THE ALLEGATIONS THAT MICHAEL**
17 **LEE MURDERED BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER.**

18
19 **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

20 A Criminal Complaint, filed on October 26, 2011, charged Michael
21 Lee with the crimes of Murder and Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial
22 Bodily Harm. (App. Vol. I, pgs. 1-2)

23
24 A Preliminary Hearing was held on November 8, 2011, in Henderson
25 Justice Court before the Honorable David S. Gibson. (App. Vol. I, pgs. 6-41)
26 At the conclusion of the Preliminary Hearing, Mr. Lee was held to answer on
27
28

1 the two charges, and was bound over to District Court. (App. Vol. I, pg. 41)
2 An Information, counting the two criminal charges, was filed in District
3 Court on November 18, 2011. (App. Vol. I, pgs. 60-62)

4
5 A jury trial was held in Department 23, before the Honorable Stefany
6 Miley. The trial began on August 4, 2014, and concluded on August 18,
7 2014. (App. Vol. III, pg. 492-Vol. VII, pg. 1367) At the conclusion of
8 deliberation, the jury returned verdicts of guilty for both counts. (App. Vol.
9 II, pgs. 347-48) Mr. Lee was sentenced on Count 1 (Murder) to Life without
10 the possibility of parole, consecutive to case C199242; and Count 2 (Child
11 Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm) to a maximum of 240
12 months with a minimum parole eligibility of 96 months, consecutive to Count
13 1. Because he was on parole at the time of these charges, Mr. Lee received
14 zero days credit for time served. (App. Vol. II, pgs. 408-408A)
15
16
17
18
19
20

21 **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

22 In December of 2008, Arica Foster gave birth to a boy who she named
23 Brodie. Brodie's father was Dustin Aschenbrenner. (App. Vol. IV, pg. 849)
24 When the relationship between Arica Foster and Dustin Aschenbrenner
25 dissolved, Ms. Foster had custody of Brodie and was his primary caregiver.
26 (App. Vol. IV, pg. 849; 851)
27
28

1 In October of 2010, Ms. Foster met and began dating Michael Lee,
2 after they were introduced to each other through their respective sisters.
3
4 (App. Vol, IV, pgs. 854-55) For a period of time, Mr. Lee's sister Jennifer
5 baby sat Brodie. (App. Vol. IV, pg. 856) In February of 2011, Ms. Foster
6 and Mr. Lee moved into an apartment together. (Prior to that, Ms. Foster had
7 been living in Green Valley with her parents.) (App. Vol. IV, pg. 857)
8 Brodie lived with Ms. Foster and Mr. Lee. Ms. Foster relied on family and
9 friends to help care for Brodie. (App. Vol. IV, pgs. 856-57; 862-63)
10
11

12 Brodie Aschenbrenner was found dead at approximately 8:50 in the
13 morning of June 15, 2011. (App. Vol. IV, pg. 917) Ms. Foster testified that
14 the previous evening, Mr. Lee was alone with Brodie for roughly an hour
15 while she ran some errands. (App. Vol. IV, pgs. 909-10) Around 1:00 the
16 next morning, Ms. Foster woke up as Mr. Lee was coming to their bed from
17 the bathroom. He told Ms. Foster that it stunk and he thought Brodie had
18 thrown up. (App. Vol. IV, pgs. 913-14) Ms. Foster got up and cleaned
19 Brodie up. (App. Vol. IV, pg. 914) She ended up laying him on a towel that
20 she spread out on the sofa, before she returned to her bed. (App. Vol. IV, pg.
21 915) Sometime in the early morning (it was still dark outside), Mr. Lee
22 carried Brodie in a fuzzy blanket and laid him into bed with Ms. Foster.
23
24 (App. Vol. IV, pg. 917) When Ms. Foster awoke at 8:50, she began rubbing
25
26
27
28

1 Brodie's back and noticed that he was cold. (App. Vol. IV, pg. 918) She
2 jumped out of bed and called 911. (App. Vol. IV, pg. 918)
3
4

5 **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**
6

7 The Defense, prior to the beginning of trial, filed a Motion in Limine to
8 Exclude Autopsy Photographs of Brodie Aschenbrenner. The Court should
9 have prevented the continuous publishing of Brodie Aschenbrenner's autopsy
10 photos. Failure to do so, denied Mr. Lee of his constitutionally guaranteed
11 right to due process and a fair trial.
12
13

14 Throughout the course of these proceedings against Mr. Lee, questions
15 persisted as to whether or not there was sufficient evidence to proceed
16 against, and to ultimately convict him of the murder of Brodie
17 Aschenbrenner. These questions were never satisfactorily answered beyond a
18 reasonable doubt. Therefore, Mr. Lee's conviction for Murder and Child
19 Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm denied Mr. Lee of his
20 constitutionally guaranteed right to due process and a fair trial.
21
22

23 ///

24 ///

25 ///

26 ///

27 ///

28 ///

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23
- 24
- 25
- 26
- 27
- 28

3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

27
28

1 photographs from coming before the Court. The State argued that they were
2 needed and required because the coroner needed them to describe their
3 testimony. We argued to the Court that we believed that the photographs
4 were much more prejudicial than they were probative, if anything, but you
5 allowed them to be introduced for purposes of the coroner's testimony.
6
7

8 And here we are a day later and they're being introduced again and
9 shown to the jury again through a different witness. They aren't needed to
10 explain that witness's testimony. They aren't needed for anything that's
11 probative. They're using them for the prejudicial effect on the jury and to
12 bring out the ire of the jury to have an emotional effect on the jury. That's
13 what they're being shown [for] again. They're not being shown for any
14 probative value. You can simply ask the witness did any of these injuries
15 exist at the time you saw Brodie and the witness can say no, they did not.
16 You don't need to -- showing the -- publishing the photographs over and over
17 and over again.
18
19
20
21

22 So we would renew the objection that they're not probative of any fact.
23 We believe and I actually would believe that the showing of them to this
24 particular witness violates the Court's order with regard to the motion in
25 limine that they could be used and provided to the coroner for explanation of
26 the coroner's testimony.
27
28

1 And actually I think at this point, Your Honor, since that order's been
2 violated, a motion for mistrial may even be needed at this point because the
3 Court's order on the motion in limine to use them solely for the purpose of
4 the coroner's and to the explain the coroner's testimony has been violated.
5 They've been published to the jury again and we can move for a mistrial and
6 would move for a mistrial. (App. Vol. IV, pgs. 825-26)
7

8
9 Later in the proceedings, the State indicated that they would be
10 "showing several witnesses the photographs of Brodie's external injuries at
11 autopsy." (App. Vol. V, pg. 934) The Defense renewed its motion for a
12 mistrial, again arguing, "[t]hey're, in my opinion, being used to bring an
13 emotional response out of the jury, a highly prejudicial response out of the
14 jury. They're not probative with these other witnesses of any particular fact.
15 ... The same evidence can be elicited without the display of the photographs
16 to the jury." (App. Vol. V, pg. 935) The Court denied the renewed motion.
17 (App. Vol. V, pg. 935)
18

19 Nevada law mandates that "evidence is not admissible if its probative value
20 is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of
21 the issues or of misleading the jury." **NRS 48.035(1)**. Since all effective
22 evidence is prejudicial in the sense of being damaging to the party against
23 whom it is offered, prejudice which calls for exclusion is given a more
24
25
26
27
28

1 specialized meaning: *an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper*
2 *basis, commonly but not necessarily an emotional one, such as hatred,*
3 *contempt or horror.* Fair trials demand that evidence not be admitted in cases
4 where, by virtue of its prejudicial nature, that evidence is more likely to
5 distract from the essential issue than to bear upon it. Nester v. State, 75
6 Nev. 41, 54, 334 P.2d 524,531 (1959)
7

8
9 In the present case, the State of Nevada repeatedly introduced into
10 evidence photographs of Brodie Aschenbrenner's dead, cut open body as it
11 lay on the autopsy table. To see those photos repeatedly on the screen had to
12 be nothing less than horrific to the jury, and undoubtedly had an impact on
13 their analysis of the evidence against Mr. Lee. There had to be a balance
14 between probative value and prejudicial effect of these photographs, as the
15 Court recognized when it indicated that only "absolutely necessary"
16 photographs were to be shown to the jury. (App. Vol. II, pg. 312) Repeated
17 showing of the photographs violated that balance.
18
19
20
21

22 The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that the
23 admission of some evidence can so infect a case that the proceeding cannot
24 be considered fundamentally fair, and the admission of such evidence
25 violates the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution. Estelle v.
26 McGuire, 502 U.S. 62 (1991).
27
28

1 If evidence unfairly prejudices a party by appealing to the emotional
2 and sympathetic tendencies of a jury, rather the jury's intellectual ability to
3 evaluate evidence, the evidence should be excluded. Krause Inc. v. Little,
4 117 Nev. 929, 34 P.3d 566 (2001). The Court should have prevented the
5 continuous publishing of Brodie Aschenbrenner's autopsy photos. Failure to
6 do so, denied Mr. Lee of his constitutionally guaranteed right to due process
7 and a fair trial.
8
9

10
11 **II. THROUGHOUT THE PROCEEDING AGAINST HIM,**
12 **THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRODUCED**
13 **TO SUSTAIN THE ALLEGATIONS THAT MICHAEL**
14 **LEE MURDERED BRODIE ASCHENBRENNER.**

15 This Court has jurisdiction to review the evidence presented at trial and
16 determine whether there was sufficient evidence presented to sustain the
17 conviction. State v. Van Winkle, 6 Nev. 340, 350 (1871) (the Nevada
18 Supreme Court has jurisdiction "to decide, as a question of law, whether the
19 evidence is sufficient to sustain such a verdict or decision in a criminal
20 case."). "The Due Process clause of the United States Constitution protects
21 an accused against conviction except on proof beyond a reasonable doubt of
22 every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged. Carl v.
23 State, 100 Nev. 164, 165, 678 P.2d 669, 669 (1984)." Oriegel-Candido v.
24 State, 114 Nev. 378, 382 (1998); U.S. CONST. AMEND. V; U.S. CONST.
25
26
27
28

1 AMEND. XIV. The standard this Court applies when reviewing the evidence
2 supporting a jury's verdict is whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have
3 been convinced beyond a reasonable doubt by the evidence it had a right to
4 consider. Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 374 (1980) (citing Edwards v.
5 State, 90 Nev. 255, 258-59 (1974)); see also, Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S.
6 307 (1979).
7

8
9 Beginning with the Preliminary Hearing held in this matter, there was
10 insufficient evidence established to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that
11 Mr. Lee was guilty of murdering Brodie Aschenbrenner – something his trial
12 attorneys fought to rectify every step of the case.
13
14

15 A. Writ of Habeas Corpus
16

17 At the conclusion of the Preliminary Hearing, Mr. Lee's attorney filed
18 a writ of habeas corpus to refute the finding that there had been a finding of
19 probable cause against Mr. Lee. (App. Vol. I, pgs. 63-95) Most troubling
20 was the apparent recognition of the State and the Court that it was impossible
21 to establish that Mr. Lee was the person responsible for the acts that led to
22 Brodie Aschenbrenner's death. The State argued to the Court that, "[t]his
23 child died at the hands of another human being and critically that it's a non-
24 accidental trauma. So one of three things took place. The defendant
25 murdered this child, the mother murdered this child, or they both did. Now,
26
27
28

1 what we have in this case is the mother of this child and the care and concern
2 that you saw of what and how she cared for this child under oath. With that
3 testimony, Judge, I would submit that there's only one of three options that
4 exist based upon this evidentiary presentation and that the defendant
5 committed the charge that's set forth in the criminal complaint and ask that
6 you bind him over." (App. Vol. I, pg. 41) In essence the State was arguing
7 to the Court that "we aren't really sure who did this – there's a couple of
8 ways this could have happened, but since the Mom was such a good witness
9 today, we think that rules her out as a possible suspect, so we ask that you
10 bind over Mr. Lee." The Court indicated that, "I have some problems with
11 this case, with the amount of knowledge that I've been given here this
12 afternoon. ... The question of who did it is a big question." (App. Vol. I,
13 pg. 41) Owing to this problem of being able to establish who in fact inflicted
14 these injuries on Brodie, the charges against Mr. Lee should not have been
15 allowed to stand.
16
17
18
19
20
21

22 B. Motion for Judgment of Acquittal

23

24 At the conclusion of the trial, Mr. Lee's attorneys filed a Motion for
25 Judgment of Acquittal . (App. Vol. II, pgs. 349-54) The essence of the
26 argument of that motion was that there was no evidence presented at trial that
27 put Mr. Lee alone with Brodie during the timeframe established by medical
28

1 testimony, for the possible infliction of the injury that would have resulted in
2 the death of Brodie Aschenbrenner. The State did present evidence that Mr.
3 Lee, the evening before Brodie died, was alone with Brodie for roughly an
4 hour, beginning around 8:00 in the when Ms. Foster ran some errands. (App.
5 Vol. IV, pgs. 909-10) Ms. Foster also testified that Mr. Lee was alone with
6 Brodie, in the car, for about five to ten minutes while she ran into a hair salon
7 to pick up a refund. (App. Vol. IV, pgs. 903-04) Apart from that testimony,
8 the record is devoid of any facts alleging that Mr. Lee had any other time
9 alone with Brodie, on June 14 or June 15, that was not supervised by Brodie's
10 mother, Ms. Foster.
11
12
13
14

15 During the trial there was testimony from two doctors that established
16 possible timeframes for the infliction of injury on Brodie. The doctors who
17 testified were, Dr. Lisa Gavin, the medical examiner, for the State (App. Vol.
18 IV, pgs. 731-71; Vol. VI, pgs. 1214-40); and Dr. Jonathan Arden for the
19 defense (App. Vol. VI, pgs. 1280-1311) Both witnesses gave testimony that
20 Brodie's time of death was several hours prior to his mother finding him cold
21 and stiff. Dr. Arden estimated that the injury to Brodie's abdomen (the injury
22 that caused Brodie's death) occurred somewhere between 48 and 72 hours
23 prior to Brodie's death. (App. Vol. VI, pgs. 1288-92) It would seem that Dr.
24 Arden's opinion put the critical injury sometime on June the 12th or 13th.
25
26
27
28

1 This would be outside of the dates – the 14th or 15th - alleged by the State as
2 the dates that the fatal injury happened to Brodie.
3

4 Dr. Gavin, the State medical examiner, established a different
5 timeframe. Dr. Gavin felt that the injury to Brodie occurred roughly 24 hours
6 prior to his death. (App. Vol. VI, pgs. 1215-17) There was no evidence that
7 Mr. Lee struck or injured Brodie on the 14th prior to 8:30 in the morning. It
8 would therefore seem that Dr. Gavin's testimony puts the critical injury to
9 Brodie outside of any time that there was evidence that established the fact
10 that Mr. Lee was alone with Brodie; that is, any time Mr. Lee would have had
11 the opportunity to injure Brodie in the way that led to Brodie's death.
12
13
14

15 Throughout the course of these proceedings against Mr. Lee, questions
16 persisted as to whether or not there was sufficient evidence to proceed
17 against, and to ultimately convict him of the murder of Brodie
18 Aschenbrenner. These questions were never satisfactorily answered beyond a
19 reasonable doubt. Therefore, Mr. Lee's conviction for Murder and Child
20 Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm denied Mr. Lee of his
21 constitutionally guaranteed right to due process and a fair trial.
22
23
24

25 **CONCLUSION**

26 Based on the foregoing, Mr. Lee's right to a fair trial under the Due
27 Process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
28

1 Constitution, as well as Art. 1, Sec. 8(5) of the Nevada Constitution, was
2 violated by the errors in the proceedings against him. Based on these errors,
3
4 the judgment of conviction in this case must be reversed.

5 Respectfully submitted,

6
7 PHILIP J. KOHN
8 CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER
9

10 By: /s/ Kedric A. Bassett
11 KEDRIC A. BASSETT, #4214
12 Deputy Public Defender
13 309 South Third Street, #226
14 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610
15 (702) 455-4685
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23
- 24
- 25
- 26
- 27
- 28

This brief has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface using Times New Roman in 14 size font.

Proportionately spaced, has a typeface of 14 points or more and does not exceed 30 pages.

1 accompanying brief is not in conformity with the requirements of the Nevada
2 Rules of Appellate Procedure.
3

4 DATED this 8th day of September, 2015.

5 PHILIP J. KOHN
6 CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER
7

8
9 By /s/ Kedric A. Bassett
10 KEDRIC A. BASSETT, #4214
11 Deputy Public Defender
12 309 South Third Street, Suite #226
13 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610
14 (702) 455-4685
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23
- 24
- 25
- 26
- 27
- 28

CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO
STEVEN S. OWENS

KEDRIC A. BASSETT
HOWARD S. BROOKS

MICHAEL ALAN LEE
NDOC No. 81950
c/o High Desert State Prison
P.O. Box 650
Indian Springs, NV 89018

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