IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL ALAN LEE,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 66963

Electronically Filed  
Oct 13 2015 02:53 p.m.  
Tracie K. Lindeman  
Clerk of Supreme Court

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

**Appeal From Judgment of Conviction  
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

KEDRIC A. BASSETT  
Deputy Public Defender  
Nevada Bar #004214  
309 South Third Street, Suite #226  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610  
(702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON  
Clark County District Attorney  
Nevada Bar #001565  
Regional Justice Center  
200 Lewis Avenue  
Post Office Box 552212  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212  
(702) 671-2500

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm Lee's Judgment of Conviction. First, the District Court properly denied the Motion for Mistrial. Lee was not prejudiced in a way that prevented him from receiving a fair trial. The autopsy photographs' shown to the witnesses were relevant to their testimony and the photographs prejudicial effect did not substantially outweigh the probative value. Second, there was sufficient evidence to find Lee guilty of Murder and Child Abuse and Neglect with Substantial Bodily Harm. The State presented sufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to

adopt Dr. Gavin's timeline that Brodie's fatal abdominal injury occurred up to 24 hours before his death and that Lee could have been the one who caused the fatal injury.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I**

#### **THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL**

The decision to grant or deny a motion for a mistrial rests within the sound discretion of the trial court. Rudin v. State, 120 Nev. 121, 142, 86 P.3d 572, 586 (2004). A defendant's motion for a mistrial must demonstrate prejudice that prevents the defendant from receiving a fair trial. Id. at 144, 86 P.3d at 587. A defendant's request for a mistrial may be granted for any number of reasons where prejudice prevents the defendant from receiving a fair trial. Id. The trial court has discretion to determine whether a mistrial is warranted, and its judgment will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. Id. at 142, 86 P.3d at 586 (citation omitted); Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 388-89, 849 P.2d 1062, 1066 (1993).

Lee alleges that the use of the autopsy photographs during the testimony of several witnesses deprived him of his right to a fair trial. Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") 5. Under Nevada law, only relevant evidence, or that evidence "having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence" is admissible. NRS 48.015; 48.025. Evidence, although relevant, is not

admissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. NRS 48.035. By requiring the prejudicial effect of evidence to substantially outweigh its probative value, NRS 48.035 strongly favors admissibility. Krause Inc. v. Little, 117 Nev. 929, 931, 34 P.3d 566, 567 (2001). “The decision to admit or exclude evidence, after balancing the prejudicial effect against the probative value, is within the discretion of the trial judge.” Williams v. State, 113 Nev. 1008, 1016, 945 P.2d 438, 443 (1997) overruled on other grounds by Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 245, 994 P.2d 700, 720 (2000). In this case, the court did not abuse its discretion when it found that the prejudicial effect of the autopsy photographs did not substantially outweigh their probative value.

Lee claims that mistrial was warranted because the autopsy photographs’ probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. AOB 8. Lee argues that the photographs improperly appealed to the emotion and sympathy of the jury. AOB 9. To merit exclusion, the evidence must unfairly prejudice an opponent, usually by appealing to the emotional and sympathetic tendencies of a jury, rather than the jury's intellectual ability to evaluate evidence. Krause Inc., 117 Nev. at 931, 34 P.3d at 567. A district court's decision on this issue will not be disturbed unless it is manifestly wrong. Id. Photographic evidence of the victim is admissible unless the photographs are so gruesome as to shock and inflame the jury. Wesley v. State, 112 Nev. 503, 507, 916 P.2d 793, 797 (1996). In

this case, the autopsy photographs in question were not so gruesome as to shock and inflame the jury and were relevant to the determination of when Brodie's fatal abdomen injury occurred.

Prior to trial Lee filed a Motion in Limine to exclude autopsy photographs of Brodie. 2 AA 263-92. In his motion, Lee argued the autopsy photographs' probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Id. The Court denied the motion, ruling that the autopsy photographs were admissible as relevant evidence. 2 AA 311-12. During trial, the State admitted the autopsy photographs during Dr. Gavin's testimony. 4 AA 731-73. Dr. Gavin was the coroner who performed the autopsy on Brodie and testified to the injuries on Brodie, and the cause and manner of death. Id. Additionally, the State showed some of the autopsy photographs during the testimony of Merridee Moshier, Hershaw Sirsy, Jennifer Lee, and Danny Fico. 4 AA 819, 5 AA 1058, 6 AA 1120, 1146. Lee objected to the photos being shown to the jury again and argued that it was being done only to inflame the jury. 4 AA 823-26. Lee also argued that the State had violated the court's order on the motion in limine and moved for a mistrial. 4 AA 826. The court properly denied the motion for mistrial because the evidence was relevant, the photographs were more probative than prejudicial and the State did not violate the court's order. 5 AA 936-37.

First, the autopsy photographs were relevant to the witnesses' testimony. The main issue of this case was the timing Brodie's fatal injuries. 5 AA 937. The photographs were presented and shown to those witnesses who could establish that time frame. Id. The defense's theory of the case was that the injuries were caused at a different time and in a different manner than what the State was alleging. Id. The court properly found that the photographs were relevant to the timing issues of when the injuries occurred or when they became readily apparent to the naked eye. Id. Based on that relevance the court properly ruled that the photographs were more probative than prejudicial. Furthermore, the State did not violate the court's order on the motion in limine. In denying the motion in limine, the court ordered the autopsy photographs to be limited to those absolutely necessary. 2 AA 482. At trial, the State only used those photographs that were necessary to help determine the timeline of the injuries through the different witnesses.

Additionally, Lee's claim that the State introduced into evidence "photographs of Brodie's dead, cut open body as it lay on the autopsy table" to appeal to the emotions and sympathy of the jury is without merit. AOB 9. Lee's argument that "to see those photos repeatedly on the screen had to be nothing less than horrific to the jury and undoubtedly had an impact on their analysis of the evidence" is flawed. The photographs of Brodie's body cut open on the autopsy table were not "repeatedly" shown to the jury. Those photographs were only shown

once and it was during the testimony of Dr. Gavin. 4 AA 748-63.<sup>2</sup> Id. Those photographs were relevant to Dr. Gavin's testimony regarding Brodie's injuries and the manner of death. The autopsy photographs shown to the other witnesses were all of Brodie's external injuries.<sup>3</sup> 4 AA 819, 5 AA 1058, 6 AA 1120, 1146. The only things that those photographs depicted were the outside of Brodie's body, his face, his ear, and the white part of his eye. 4 AA 739-45, 747. Therefore, Lee's argument that the jury was so inflamed because of the nature of the photographs that it undoubtedly had an impact on their analysis fails.

In this case, the autopsy photographs were relevant evidence to the testimony of the witnesses and their probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Additionally, the photographs were not gruesome so as to inflame the jury or appeal to their emotions or sympathy instead of their ability to judge the evidence. Therefore, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial because Lee was not deprived of his right to a fair trial.

## **II. ANY ERROR IN THE CASE WAS HARMLESS**

Nevada law provides that any "error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." NRS 178.598. This Court has long held that errors in admitting evidence "will be deemed harmless" when the

---

<sup>2</sup> Those photos were admitted as State's Exhibit 67-76.

<sup>3</sup> The witnesses were shown State's Exhibits 49, 50, 52, 53, 57, 59, 61, and 63.

evidence of guilt is strong. Kelly v. State, 108 Nev. 545, 552, 837 P.2d 416 (1992) Nonconstitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008). In this case, any error in showing the photographs to the jury through other witnesses was harmless because the photographs were already properly admitted and shown to the jury through Dr. Gavin.<sup>4</sup> Second, the error was harmless because as discussed *infra* the evidence against Lee was strong.

**III.**  
**THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT DEFENDANT'S**  
**CONVICTION**

Lee argues that there was not sufficient evidence presented to support the jury's verdict finding him guilty of murder and child abuse and neglect with substantial bodily harm. AOB 14. Specifically, Lee argues that the State did not present evidence at trial that put Lee alone with Brodie during the timeframe that the fatal abdomen injury occurred.<sup>5</sup> AOB 12-13.

When reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence claim, the relevant inquiry is *not* whether the court is convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable

---

<sup>4</sup> Lee does not dispute that it was proper to admit the autopsy photographs during Dr. Gavin's testimony.

<sup>5</sup> Because Lee focuses on the fatal injury alone and does not address the traumatic brain injury or the other various injuries, the State will focus its response on the fatally transected duodenum and corresponding peritonitis and Lee's conviction for murder.

doubt. Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 374, 609 P.2d 309, 313 (1980). Rather, when the jury has already found the defendant guilty, the limited inquiry is “whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” Milton v. State, 111 Nev. 1487, 1491, 908 P.2d 684, 686-87 (1995) (quotation and citation omitted).

Thus, the evidence is only insufficient when “the prosecution has not produced a minimum threshold of evidence upon which a conviction may be based, even if such evidence were believed by the jury.” Evans v. State, 112 Nev. 1172, 1193, 926 P.2d 265, 279 (1996) (quoting State v. Purcell, 110 Nev. 1389, 1394, 887 P.2d 276, 279 (1994)) (emphasis removed). “[I]t is the jury’s function, not that of the court, to assess the weight of the evidence and determine the credibility of the witnesses.” Origel-Candido v. State, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380 (1998) (quoting McNair v. State, 108 Nev. 53, 56, 825 P.2d 571, 573 (1992)). It is further the jury’s role “[to fairly] resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.” Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979). Moreover, in rendering its verdict, a jury is free to rely on circumstantial evidence. Wilkins, 96 Nev. at 374, 609 P.2d at 313. Indeed, “circumstantial evidence alone may support a conviction.” Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 531, 50 P.3d 1100, 1112 (2002).

First, Lee's argument that based on Dr. Gavin's testimony Brodie's fatal abdomen injury occurred sometime on the 14<sup>th</sup> prior to 8:30 a.m. is erroneous. AOB 13. Dr. Gavin testified that with an injury like a transected duodenum, the inflammatory response and signs of symptoms appear rapidly. 4 AA 763. Any food that may be present in the stomach would start coming out into the abdomen. Id. Within minutes to hours, neutrophils would come out and very quickly, the inflammatory process would start. 4 AA 764. Additionally, Dr. Gavin testified that the body begins to respond to the injury quickly, but you can see the changes or symptoms for a period of up to 24 hours. Id. Dr. Gavin approximated that the time window for the type of injury that Brodie sustained was *hours and up to 24 hours* from the time of death. 4 AA 765. (emphasis added). However, Dr. Gavin testified that there is no exact science and the timeline is only an approximation. 6 AA 1217. Based on Dr. Gavin's testimony, the earliest time that the injury could have been inflicted was the morning of Tuesday June 14<sup>th</sup>. However, based on the testimony, the injury could have also occurred as late as a couple of hours before Brodie's death, which would put the injury on the evening of June 14<sup>th</sup> or the early morning of June 15<sup>th</sup>. There was testimony at trial that Lee was alone with Brodie on two occasions on June 14<sup>th</sup>. First, Lee was alone with Brodie in the car for about 5-10 minutes while Arica went inside the hair salon. 4 AA 904. Second, Lee was alone with Brodie for approximately an hour in the evening while Arica ran errands. 4 AA 910.

After viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, a rational trier of fact could have found that the fatal injury occurred sometime during the time that Lee was alone with Brodie.

Second, Lee claims that there was not sufficient evidence because Dr. Arden, the defense expert, disagreed with Dr. Gavin's timeline of when the fatal injury occurred. AOB 13. Dr. Arden disagreed with Dr. Gavin and placed the same injury as having occurred at least 48 hours but more like around 72 hours prior to Brodie's death. 6 AA 1288, 1292. However, it is the jury's function to assess the weight of a witness' testimony and determine its credibility. Origel-Candido, 114 Nev. at 381, 956 P.2d at 1380. After viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, a rational trier of fact could have adopted Dr. Gavin's version of the timeline and rejected Dr. Arden's.

At trial, numerous witnesses testified to Brodie's behavior and demeanor in the 72 hours preceding his death. Brodie's grandparents, Merridee and Brad Moshier watched Brodie on Saturday June 11<sup>th</sup> and part of Sunday June 12<sup>th</sup>. 4 AA 882-85. They testified that Brodie was normal and healthy as of Sunday. 4 AA 818-20. He was acting like his normal self, playing around in the back yard and inside the house. 4 AA 814. At no point did he show signs of a head injury, abdominal pain, exhaustion, nausea or vomiting. 5 AA 1015-16. Nothing indicated that he was sick or injured. 5 AA 1026. Both Merridee and Brad gave Brodie a bath while he

was in their care. 4 AA 815, 5 AA 1013. During the bath they had an opportunity to observe Brodie's full naked body, and they did not observe any bruises on Brodie that were different or out of the ordinary compared the usual bumps and bruises he got when playing. 4 AA 815. Alayne Opie testified that on Sunday June 12<sup>th</sup> she took Brodie and her niece Lilly to breakfast. 5 AA 1091. At that point, Brodie was still not exhibiting any symptoms of an abdominal injury. Alayne testified that Brodie ate almost a stack of pancakes and drank all of his syrup. *Id.* Brodie was his typical normal self. 5 AA 1092.

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